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PROSPECTUS


When Thomas Jefferson declared in favor of life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness in 1776, the first two items on his list were more or less self-explanatory; the third he left to readers’ own inclinations—which, of course, was precisely the point. Another manifesto published the same year, by Adam Smith, lacked Jefferson’s succinctness but suggested how happiness might be pursued. Smith, a professor of moral philosophy in Glasgow before becoming a founding father of free-market capitalism, didn’t equate happiness with material well-being, but he appreciated that for most people the latter significantly facilitated the former.


Much of American history can be understood as an elaboration of the ideas of Jefferson and Smith; yet in actual history, as opposed to abstract political or economic theory, ideas invariably come clothed in human form. The humans most responsible for putting Jefferson’s ideas into practice are well known; they are the great figures of American politics. The heroes of Smith’s marketplace are less famous. To be sure, the names of Carnegie, Rockefeller, Ford and a few others conjure images of power and wealth; but beyond general outlines these images are typically hazy and blurred. As for the score or so of others whose achievements fall only slightly shy of this acme of accomplishment, comprehension—recognition even—is more elusive still.


The book at hand attempts to fill this knowledge gap. The twenty-five individuals profiled here were all brilliantly successful in commerce, manufacturing or finance. Most became very wealthy, some fabulously so; more to the present purpose, all contributed creatively to the practice of American business. Several established industries that provided livelihoods for millions of workers, and goods and services for millions more of customers. Some supplied innovative solutions to problems endemic to a modernizing economy. Some adapted novel technologies to unrelieved needs. Some expanded market niches into substantial sectors. Some exploited synergies among previously unrelated businesses.


Twenty-five is no magic number. Fifteen individuals might have been selected; conceivably the list could have stretched to fifty. But fifteen would have failed to do justice to the diversity of business accomplishment in American history, whereas fifty would have taxed the reader’s patience—or short-shrifted those profiled.


The chapters below are self-contained, and needn’t be read in strict order. Fans of J. P. Morgan can get their financial fix first; readers hungry to know how McDonald’s sold a billion burgers can belly right up to Ray Kroc in chapter 16. This said, there is a historical logic in the evolution of the American economy, a logic readers who take the chapters in order will be better able to appreciate. There are definite progressions here, from a preindustrial age to industrial and postindustrial ones; from mercantile capitalism to industrial capitalism to financial capitalism to venture capitalism; from waterways to railways to highways to airways; from Pony Express to telegraph to radio to television to the Internet; from goods to services to information; from the primacy of producers to the ascendancy of consumers; from “robber barons” to “malefactors of great wealth” to “masters of the universe”; from fights over Manhattan house lots to struggles for space on satellites; from the boardroom as an all-male, all-white preserve to a place where women and people of color also get their turns.


Plutarch, who created and really still owns the art of capturing a life in brief, said that “the most glorious exploits do not always furnish us with the clearest discoveries of virtue or vice in men; sometimes a matter of less moment, an expression or a jest, informs us better of their characters and inclinations than the most famous sieges, the greatest armaments or the bloodiest battles.” Without slighting famous sieges or bloody battles—what would the tale of the past be without its stirring victories and grand failures?—the profiles here are written in Plutarch’s spirit. Each is a sketch rather than a fully executed portrait; the goal is not to elaborate a life but to distill it, to explain what difference this life made. Plutarch sought lessons of political leadership; the lessons here involve business leadership.


If the primary purpose of this book were to render readers as rich as the men and women depicted, the title would certainly say so (with the obvious hope of siphoning some of those riches to the account of the author). The actual aim is more modest—but not necessarily less worthy. The twenty-five portrayed here cover fairly well the history of American enterprise; to understand them is to go far toward understanding what makes the American economy at the end of the second millennium the world wonder it is. Knowledge apart, the twenty-five stories here can be read simply for their entertainment value. American history contains few characters more combative than Cornelius Vanderbilt, more manipulative and unscrupulous than Jay Gould, more willful than J. P. Morgan, more eccentric than Henry Ford, more inclined to bare her soul in public than Oprah Winfrey, more outrageous than Ted Turner. This is hardly a phalanx of gray-flannel suits; it comprises some of the most colorful figures in two-and-a-quarter centuries of American national life.


Such disclaimers notwithstanding, it would be disingenuous to deny all desire to increase the gross domestic product. History teaches, and if it teaches the present—including the present readership—a few of the wealth-creating tricks of the past, then all the better for history, and all the better for its students.
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GROWING UP WITH
THE COUNTRY



John Jacob Astor



• • •


IN JANUARY 1789, IN ACCORD WITH THEIR FRESHLY RATIFIED CONSTITION, Americans began electing members of their new federal government, which would shortly take up business in New York City. In that same month, in the same city, a local newspaper carried a notice:


John Jacob Astor


At No. 81 Queen Street,


Next Door but one to the Friends’ Meeting House,


Has for sale an assortment of


Piano Fortes of the Newest Construction,


made by the best makers in London, which


he will sell at reasonable terms.


He gives cash for all kinds of Furs


And has for sale a quantity of Canada


Beavers and Beavering Coating, Raccoon Skins,


and Raccoon Blankets, Muskrat Skins, etc., etc.


Music soon became a sideline for Astor, but otherwise his commercial activities thrived. As the new country grew, spreading its boundaries across North America, so did Astor’s mercantile empire. His agents ranged north into Canada and west to the Pacific. His ships traveled still farther—to the Orient and around the world.


Yet the core of what became, by his death in 1848, America’s greatest fortune lay much closer to his Manhattan home. Sooner than most of his contemporaries, Astor understood that long-term real-estate values in a growing country like the United States could only go up. He acted on that understanding, riding out the short-term bumps that discouraged some of his less resolute contemporaries and profiting enormously from his insight and perseverance.


By heritage and training, Astor should have been a butcher rather than a merchant or a real-estate investor. But his father, Jacob Astor, a butcher in the German town of Waldorf, had never made much of meat, and John Jacob didn’t see how he could either. Evidently the feeling was common among the Astor boys, who had already begun to scatter. George lived in London; John Henry had gotten as far as New York, perhaps as one of the Hessian mercenaries employed by the British during the American Revolutionary War. In any event, when George invited John Jacob to join him in England, the boy accepted with alacrity. He left Waldorf with a bundle slung over his shoulder; later legend had him stopping at the edge of the village, looking back and pledging, as if to the dear mother who had died before his fifth birthday, to be honest and industrious and never to gamble. In his business dealings he would adhere to the first two of these three pledges; in his personal affairs to the last two.


John Jacob spent four years in London learning English and saving his shillings for passage to America, which seemed to him the obvious destination for an ambitious young man. He probably would have left before 1783 but the Revolutionary War still raged; as it was, no sooner had word arrived from Paris of the peace treaty with the now-former colonies than he booked a berth west. He sailed in the autumn of 1783 with five guineas in his pocket and seven flutes under his arm; the former constituted his life savings while the latter, purchased from his brother, a manufacturer of musical instruments, were the entire stock-in-trade of a twenty-year-old who hoped to make a career as a merchant.


The ship left late in the sailing season and consequently arrived in the Chesapeake Bay after ice had already begun to form. Ill winds stalled the vessel a day south of Baltimore; cold days and colder nights locked the craft in the ice. A few of the more intrepid and impatient passengers struck out on foot; Astor, knowing no one in Baltimore and having paid for food and lodging until the ship reached its destination, sat tight. Part of the attraction of doing so derived from the knowledge he was gleaning from fellow passengers regarding what they characterized as the most promising part of the peddling business for a hardy fellow: furs. Accounts vary as to who these informants were—English merchants in the Canada trade, in one version; a German immigrant with personal experience in the woods, in another. But whoever they were, they fired Astor’s imagination about the possibilities that lay ahead. Although the heat thus produced didn’t melt the ice still gripping the vessel, it drove him over the side, across the frozen bay and on to Baltimore.


There he tarried briefly before continuing to New York. The latter city had several advantages over Baltimore, not all of which a newcomer could have known. Of those that would prove most important to Astor, the first was its unmatched position as port and entrepôt. New York’s harbor was the finest on the Atlantic seaboard; commanding the Hudson Valley, it afforded access to the fur-bearing regions of upstate New York and Canada. The second advantage was the circumstance that New York’s economy had been ravaged by the Revolutionary War. During the course of the fighting the city had been nearly depopulated; now that the war was over, it was on the rebound, which provided all manner of commercial opportunities.


Astor caught the bounce and soon set himself up in business. He peddled his flutes and other musical instruments but quickly broadened out into other items, notably furs. As he soon discovered, if he hadn’t already been told, the fur business was not for the faint-hearted or discomfort-averse. With the spring he headed up the Hudson to meet the Indian, Canadian and American trappers who actually procured the pelts. One contemporary left a picture of the merchant about his business:


John Jacob Astor, with a pack of Indian goods upon his back, wandered from the Indian trail, got lost in the low grounds at the foot of Seneca Lake in an inclement night, wandered amid the howl and the rustling of wild beasts, until almost morning, when he was attracted by the light of an Indian cabin, near the old castle, and following it, obtained shelter and warmth.


Like many another business traveler, Astor missed his hearth and home. In his case these had both personal and commercial significance. Astor married Sarah Todd in the autumn of 1785; the union brought not only companionship but a $300 dowry and a second set of eyes shrewd for value. Astor didn’t dispute reports that soon began circulating that Sarah was a better judge of furs than he; it was later said, after the family business prospered beyond any but the idlest early dreams of either, that she half-jokingly insisted that he pay her $500 an hour for her skills in inventory appraisal and strategic planning, and that he unhesitatingly agreed. (Any conversion to 1990s dollars is problematic, but suffice it to say that Sarah would have been getting well over $5000 an hour in 1998.)


Other family members took to the business less cheerfully. A market panic in the early 1790s left Astor momentarily illiquid; he approached his brother Henry for a $200 loan or, failing that, Henry’s signature on a note. Henry adhered to the conservative philosophy about being neither borrower nor lender; he refused his brother’s request but made a counteroffer. “John,” he said, “I will give you $100 if you will agree never to ask me to loan any money, endorse a note, or sign a bond for you, or be obligated for you in any manner whatsoever.” Astor thought this over, decided he needed the $100 and probably wouldn’t get anything else from Henry anyway, and took it.


The business survived this and various other early trials until by 1800 Astor was one of the leading figures in New York commerce and the first factor (as fur traders were called) in the pelt-and-skin business. At that time he decided to expand his business, taking advantage of what a later generation of business analysts would call synergy. In the 1780s and 1790s American merchants began tentatively exploring the Chinese market, sending vessels from Boston and New York to trade for tea, silk and other high-value items that had formed the core of commerce with the East for centuries. But what to sell the Chinese in return had always been a problem. The Chinese government took the position that it required nothing the West had to offer. China had not “the slightest need of your country’s manufactures,” the emperor informed King George III in 1793. Eventually the British, the world leaders in the China trade, would hit on opium as a product Chinese consumers couldn’t refuse; when the Chinese government launched one of the first offensives in the war on drugs by banning opium, the British forcibly resisted, thereby triggering the so-called Opium War of 1839-1842.


From the macroeconomic perspective of the mercantilist-minded governments of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, the quest for goods to sell to China represented an effort to correct an adverse trade balance; for individual merchants it was an effort to fill their trading ships in both directions and make money going out as well as coming home. Luckily for Astor, some early merchant, probably from Russia, discovered that the Chinese loved furs, especially those of the Pacific sea otter, which the Russians called “soft gold.” Selling furs to the Chinese seemed a likely and lucrative way for Astor to expand his commercial activities.


Astor learned about the China trade in some detail from certain of Sarah’s relatives who were actively involved. He tested the market during the 1790s before taking a major position in 1800 when he purchased an interest in the Severn, a ship commanded by the husband of one of Sarah’s nieces and carrying more than 30,000 skins from New York to Canton. The experiment went well; the skins and some other goods were exchanged for tea, silk, satin, chinaware and assorted other items, which arrived back in New York in the spring of 1801 after a round trip of thirteen months.


Precisely how much profit Astor cleared on this voyage and subsequent voyages is unclear, but it was sufficient to persuade him to purchase the Severn outright and afterward to commission the construction of other ships, including the Magdalen, named for his and Sarah’s daughter, and the Beaver, named for the backbone of his North American business. By 1809 five vessels carried Astor’s cargoes from New York to Canton and back.


By then he had conceived an ambitious—indeed audacious—plan for expanding both the fur trade and the China trade and for connecting the two even more intimately than before. Heretofore Astor had purchased the bulk of his furs in Montreal from two Canadian companies, of which the larger and more powerful was the North West Company. The Canadian firms naturally took advantage of their favored position to raise prices above what Astor would have liked to pay; more annoying to the patriotic sense of an adopted American, most of those furs came from territory within the boundaries of the United States, in particular the upper Mississippi and Missouri valleys. To pay cartel prices to Canadians for Canadian goods was one thing; to pay such rates for American goods was something else.


In 1804 the American explorers Lewis and Clark set out to survey the Missouri valley and the territory west to the Pacific; on their return in 1806 Astor developed a plan for breaking the Canadian grip on the American fur trade, for lowering his own costs and for expanding his share of the China market. The Canadians’ control of the trade rested on their relationships with Indian tribes and individual trappers between St. Louis and the crest of the Rocky Mountains; Astor proposed an assault from the rear. He would establish a trading network on the far side of the Rockies, in the basin of the Columbia River. Its headquarters would be at the Columbia’s mouth, near the place where Lewis and Clark had wintered; with luck this post would command the commerce of the entire basin. In addition it would give Astor a head start to China, for the furs collected from the ten thousand streams and hundreds of thousands of square miles of forest of the Oregon country (as the Columbia region generally was called) would be sent directly across the Pacific.


It was a grand scheme, which Astor set in motion in 1810. He dispatched an expedition to travel overland to Oregon, scouting the land and its prospects along the way; at the Pacific this group would be met by a supply ship sent around South Americas Cape Horn. Together the two parties would establish a fort and commence business.


The ship arrived first, and in the spring of 1811 its officers and men began construction of the fort that would be the centerpiece of a town called Astoria. But shortly thereafter tragedy struck. The ship was commanded by a martinet who was as contemptuous of the Indians as he was of his own men. He was also careless, allowing armed Indians to come aboard his vessel; one day the Indians overpowered the crew in bloody fighting. Somehow in the confusion of the melee a spark reached the ship’s magazine, blowing the vessel and both its attackers and defenders halfway to Hawaii.


This was a sharp setback to Astor’s plan—but it was merely the first. The overland party ran into various difficulties, straggling into Astoria only at the beginning of 1812. Shortly thereafter the United States and Britain went to war. The European conflicts that triggered the war had vexed American trade with the Continent for years; Astor’s business had suffered along with the rest. Now the war with Britain destroyed his hopes of a fur-trading empire in Oregon. The British had next to no navy in the Pacific, but the United States had none at all, and when a British warship approached Astoria in 1813, Astor’s agent there realized the post was indefensible. He sold the operation to a representative of the British-backed North West Company conveniently and uncoincidentally on the scene. Not surprisingly the buyer got a bargain.


Having lost a sizable investment through the actions of his government (in declaring and waging war against Britain), Astor felt justified in applying for government assistance to recoup that investment—and more. After the end of the War of 1812 he lobbied for legislation to bar foreigners from trading with Indians on American soil. When Congress approved the measure in 1816 Astor’s Canadian competitors were effectively excluded from the American fur trade. Congress conferred another boon when it closed trading posts that had been operated by the government since the end of the eighteenth century.


Astor wasn’t the only one to benefit from the exclusion of foreigners and the privatization of the fur trade; the 1820s witnessed lively (and, given the rough-hewn nature of the fur trade, occasionally deadly) competition between Astor’s American Fur Company and smaller firms operated by his rival compatriots. Some of his competitors eventually accepted his offers to join forces with him; others, in particular the Rocky Mountain Fur Company, fought stubbornly on.


But the business was no longer what it had been. The fur regions were being depleted, which made competition that much more bitter and profit margins that much thinner. Worse, fur had always been a fashion item, and fashions change. Beaver hats—hats made of felt pounded from the soft inner fur of beavers—went out of style in Europe and America, seriously eroding the market for Astor’s staple product. Deciding to leave the business to younger men, Astor in 1834 sold his fur interests.


By then his wealth had another basis. As early as the 1790s Astor had begun speculating in real estate. Like many another investor in that preindustrial era he looked to land as the obvious place to put money he didn’t have any current use for. Again like others then, and later, he had the idea of purchasing land that was essentially wilderness, of surveying and subdividing it, of building roads to make it accessible, of marketing it to smaller purchasers, and of watching his investment multiply in the process. To some extent the return he would realize would result from the services and infrastructure he provided; to some extent it would simply reflect the increasing scarcity of land, of which there was (and always is) a fixed supply, relative to population, which in America in those days (and for many generations after) was growing rapidly.


Astor took fliers in undeveloped properties in Canada just across the border and in the Mohawk valley of upstate New York. The investments turned out not to be particularly profitable, entangling Astor in squabbles regarding titles, management services and fees. But he learned a valuable lesson: It wasn’t necessarily any easier to earn money in real estate than in trade. In each case investments had to be selected judiciously and tended carefully. Money didn’t grow on trees in the New York backcountry any more than furs brought themselves to market or ships sailed themselves to China.


Astor had better luck in real estate in Manhattan. In his home city he had the advantage of proximity; he knew the properties from personal experience and daily observation, and the market from constant exposure. More important, he had a feel for the growth of the city—for the patterns of population, the direction of development, the evolution of the economy.


Astor first entered the Manhattan property market in the late eighteenth century, but not until the beginning of the nineteenth did he make a serious effort in real estate there. Two considerations influenced his timing. One was the uncertainty surrounding overseas trade during the Napoleonic era. With Britain and France seizing American vessels, and the U.S. government fitfully embargoing commerce with those belligerents, merchants had to think twice about plowing their profits back into the overseas trade.


The second consideration was the phenomenal growth of population and business activity in New York. The federal constitution specified a decennial census; that ten-year tally revealed that the population of New York City nearly doubled between 1790 and 1800, from 33,000 to 60,000. It more than doubled again by 1820, and much more than doubled between 1820 and 1840. Such breathtaking expansion called out for investment; Astor heard the call and heeded it.


He made his initial plunge with the profits from his first China ship, the Severn. In 1803 he put $180,000 into various lots and buildings; in 1804 $80,000; in 1805 $80,000; in 1806 $125,000. His purchases lagged during the period when he was preparing and executing his Astoria adventure; they also fluctuated according to the returns from particular voyages to China. But by 1820 he had invested well over half a million dollars in New York real estate and was, if not the largest property-holder in the city, certainly one of the largest.


An associate described Astor’s approach to property purchases:


When he had first trod the streets of New-York, in 1784, the city was a snug, leafy place of twenty-five thousand inhabitants, situated at the extremity of the island, mostly below Cortlandt street. In 1800, when he began to have money to invest, the city had more than doubled in population, and had advanced nearly a mile up the island. Now, Astor was a shrewd calculator of the future. No reason appeared why New-York should not repeat this doubling game and this mile of extension every fifteen years. He acted upon the supposition, and fell into the habit of buying land and lots just beyond the verge of the city.


One little anecdote will show the wisdom of this proceeding. He sold a lot in the vicinity of Wall street [purchased around 1802], about the year 1810, for eight thousand dollars, which was supposed to be somewhat under its value. The purchaser, after the papers were signed, seemed disposed to chuckle over his bargain.


“Why, Mr. Astor,” said he, “in a few years this lot will be worth twelve thousand dollars.”


“Very true,” replied Astor; “but now you shall see what I will do with this money. With eight thousand dollars I buy eighty lots above Canal street. By the time your lot is worth twelve thousand dollars, my eighty lots will be worth eighty thousand dollars,” which proved to be the fact.


Even when allowance is made here for exaggeration, Astor’s success in anticipating appreciation of property values was striking. He quadrupled his money on one water-lot (a piece of property submerged at high tide but potentially reclaimable for development) in twelve years. On another piece, of dry land this time, he doubled his money in three years.


Astor initially specialized in developing unimproved property. He purchased country estates outside the built-up area of the city, then subdivided them and sold off the smaller units. In 1805, for example, he purchased half of the Greenwich Village estate of George Clinton (who had just been elected vice president of the United States) for $75,000. He divided his purchase into 243 lots; he sold some thirty of these during the next several years at an average markup of 250 percent. The rest he held onto, watching their value continue to grow.


In this case, as in many others as the years went by, Astor added the role of landlord to that of developer. With rents rising in the downtown area and nearby neighborhoods, he increasingly chose to take his returns as lease payments rather than as sale prices. By 1826 he was reaping some $27,000 annually from 174 properties. Where once his surpluses from the fur trade financed his real-estate purchases, increasingly the real-estate side of his ledgers financed themselves.


After he withdrew from the fur trade, real estate was his primary occupation and source of income. Between 1835 and 1848 Astor invested $830,000 in Manhattan real estate. His pockets were capacious enough that he could increase his play precisely when everyone else was retrenching, as they did following the financial panic of 1837. Philip Hone, a New York businessman whose eventual claim to historical fame was the detailed and opinionated diary he kept from 1828 to 1851, lamented that the panic had ruined New York.


Trade is stagnant. Local stocks are lower than ever; real estate is unsalable at any price; rents have fallen and are not punctually paid, and taxes have increased most ruinously. The pressure is severe enough upon the owners of houses and stores who are out of debt, but if the property is mortgaged and the seven per cent interest must be regularly paid, God help the owners!


Not surprisingly landlords and mortgage-holders came in for criticism as battening on the misfortunes of the masses; Astor, as the largest landlord in the city and a not-insignificant holder of mortgages, received his share of criticism. But there is little evidence that he was more ruthless than any number of others in this regard. For the most part the panic simply afforded an opportunity to purchase more property, when the market was low. In 1838 alone he sank another $224,000 into real estate.


Most of his properties were nondescript and anonymous, but a few became landmarks of the city. According to the semi-official chronicler of Astor’s accomplishments, Washington Irving, Astor had from his earliest days in New York planned to construct the most magnificent dwelling in the city.


Almost a stranger in the city, and in very narrow circumstances, he passed by where a row of houses had just been erected in Broadway, and which, from the superior style of their architecture, were the talk and boast of the city. “I’ll build, one day or other, a greater house than any of these, in this very street,” he said to himself.


Plans changed slightly over the intervening half-century; by the time Astor actually began building the grand structure of his dreams it had evolved into a hotel—characteristically a money-making venture rather than a monument to personal excess. The Park Hotel—soon renamed the Astor House—at its opening in 1836 became the most fashionable home-away-from-home in the country. Its granite walls rose five stories above Broadway, surrounding a private court and enclosing three hundred guest rooms fitted out in black walnut. Ponderous Doric columns flanked the front door, through which visitors entered an ornate lobby with inlaid marble floors. Each floor featured several bathrooms, unusual for the time, and a steam-driven pump pushed water to a tank on the roof, whence it flowed by gravity to the faucets and lavatories below. The staff of hundreds provided service renowned for its quality, the philosophy of which was summarized by the manager-candidate who won the job by declaring that he was “a hotel keeper, not a tavern keeper.” Pressed to define a hotel-keeper, he continued, “A hotel-keeper is a gentleman who stands on a level with his guests.”


The second edifice that bore Astor’s name wasn’t completed until after his death. In the 1830s he began planning a splendid library, a building that would simultaneously elevate the human spirit by its appearance and inform the human intellect by the books and manuscripts it contained. Compilation of the collection began at once; construction of the building awaited the $400,000 Astor left in his will for the library. The library opened in 1854, six years after he died.


The books in the Astor Libary contained the wisdom of the ages; a lesser pearl, yet one that made the library possible, was contained in a comment Astor made shortly before his death. By now his sight was beginning to dim, but not the vision that had allowed him to see better than others of his era that a person would never go wrong betting on the long-term future of America. Asked whether he would have done anything in his life differently, Astor replied, “Could I begin life again, knowing what I now know, and had money to invest, I would buy every foot of land on the Island of Manhattan.”
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THE WARRIOR



Cornelius Vanderbilt



• • •


THE METAPHORS OF BUSINESS FREQUENTLY LIKEN CAPITALIST COMPETITION to physical combat. Salesmen battle for accounts; upstart firms seize market share; managers beat back takeover bids. In the genteel days of the late twentieth century these images remain mostly metaphors; rarely do business competitors trade blows outside the salesroom, the boardroom, the courtroom. But six generations ago the metaphorical often merged with the actual. Businessmen captured market share by force; they defended their territory by physically fending off their rivals. A good head has never been bad for business, but at the dawn of the industrial era a stout pair of arms and two iron fists didn’t hurt either.


Cornelius Vanderbilt had a good head, but without his arms and fists he never would have won the success he did. He was a big kid from birth in 1794, and he took to strenuous activity like a duck to water—or like himself to water. He learned to swim almost as soon as he could walk; while the other children contented themselves splashing along the shore near the family’s Staten Island farm, Corneel (as his parents called him) would swim out through the surf and far beyond the breakers. In his rowboat he would go even farther. Careless of his own safety and fearless of the weather, he would row south to Sandy Hook or east across the Hudson estuary to Long Island.


But it was when he learned to sail that his horizons really began to open. He hated school almost as much as he hated hoeing the stony soil on the farm; a sailboat was his escape from both. At fifteen he threatened to run away from home and ship before the mast of some merchantman; his mother, the only person who could control the headstrong lad, and then only intermittently and by persuasion, offered a counterproposal. If Corneel would work another month until his sixteenth birthday, she and his father would lend him $100 to purchase a boat he had had his eye on. He could start a ferry business between Staten Island and New York City. This would keep him close to home but would give him an income and just about all the freedom any young man could require.


Vanderbilt accepted the offer, and in a short time was master of his own craft—and, it seemed, his own destiny. As an old man he remembered the day of his emancipation as though it had just happened: “I didn’t feel as much real satisfaction when I made two million in that Harlem corner as I did on that bright May morning sixty years before when I stepped into my own periauger”—a flat-bottomed boat with two masts—“hoisted my own sail and put my hand on my own tiller.”


The carrying trade the teenager entered was thick with men who were every bit as determined as he. They weren’t happy to witness another competitor enter their already cutthroat business, and some of them weren’t above sabotage and other physical forms of dissuasion. But Vanderbilt, by now a young bull of a man with blond hair that stood out straight behind him in a gale and blue eyes that flashed like the lightning he laughed at, gave as good as he got. On one occasion during the War of 1812, when he was ferrying a load of soldiers from a fort at the Narrows upriver to Manhattan, he was accosted by an officer in another boat. This gentleman insisted that Vanderbilt transfer his passengers onto the officer’s boat for inspection. Vanderbilt might have done so had he not recognized the officer’s boat as belonging to one of Vanderbilt’s competitors on the river. Vanderbilt hadn’t yet been paid for his cargo, and he guessed that he wouldn’t once the soldiers were spirited away in the other boat. So he declared—employing the curt directness for which he was becoming known on the water—that the soldiers would stay right where they were. The officer grew outraged at this effrontery and, drawing his sword, leaped into Vanderbilt’s vessel to chasten this young buck. Vanderbilt was ready for the assault. He dodged the sword and with one blow flattened the officer, laying him out in the bottom of the boat. Then, grabbing him by the breeches, he hurled him into the other boat, and proceeded up the river to his destination.


Had Vanderbilt relied solely on muscle and courage he might have provoked still more resentment than he did. But even his most bitter rivals recognized that he owed his success primarily to his capacity for hard work and his utter indifference to fatigue, hunger, fear and the other afflictions of ordinary mortals. From dawn until long after dark he would ferry passengers from Stapleton on Staten Island to Whitehall Landing at the southern tip of Manhattan. The fare was eighteen cents one way, a quarter for the round trip. The bulk of the traffic consisted of regular commuters, especially farmers taking their vegetables and other truck crops into the city in the morning and returning in the afternoon. Vanderbilt soon won a reputation for punctuality—no small thing in an era of sail when an adverse breeze could throw schedules almost literally to the wind. More skilled at the sailor’s art than most ferrymen, and willing and able, on necessity, to propel his craft by oar and pole, he almost invariably picked up his passengers when he said he would and deposited them on or before the pledged moment.


Nor did he let bad weather cancel a passage. Passengers sometimes were treated to wild rides, but if they were game so was he. In one instance, again during the War of 1812, an officer asked him if he could get a contingent of troops through a terrible storm to Whitehall Landing. “Yes,” he said, “but I shall have to carry them under water part of the way.” He lived up to both parts of his promise; on arrival one of the soldiers declared that he hadn’t managed a full breath of air the entire journey.


Where most of his competitors went home at the end of a twelve- or fourteen-hour day, Vanderbilt hired out his boat for moonlight jobs. He hauled cargoes of freight about the Hudson estuary; he took tourists and partygoers for cruises around Manhattan. No one could tell if he ever slept or had a home beyond his boat; such meals as he consumed were snatched at the tiller or while passengers boarded or exited the craft.


Not surprisingly his business prospered. He quickly repaid his parents’ $100 loan and contributed several times that amount to the general family fund. But he kept enough for himself to purchase a minority interest in two other vessels.


Although the War of 1812, with its British naval blockade, cut seriously into the business of overseas traders like John Jacob Astor and of long-distance coastal carriers, it created a new niche for short-haulers such as Vanderbilt. Instead of contracting for a single voyage from Baltimore to Boston, for example, merchants would break the journey into shorter legs that were harder for the British blockaders to interdict. There were hazards, to be sure; small vessels like Vanderbilt’s were defenseless against the British men-of-war if caught out in the open. But the rewards to daring and skill more than offset the dangers. At least they did in the thinking of Vanderbilt, who employed every opportunity to serve both country and self.


Besides confirming his fearlessness, the war reinforced Vanderbilt’s reputation for reliability. In 1814, during the darkest hours of the conflict, New Yorkers braced for a direct assault on the city by the Royal Navy and the troops the British ships carried. The commanding general of the defending American forces ordered his quartermaster to take whatever measures were necessary to ensure the adequate provisioning of the forts and batteries in the area. The quartermaster entertained bids from scores of boatmen, many of whom consciously bid well below cost—not out of patriotism per se but from a desire to exercise the successful bidder’s right to exemption from militia duty.


Vanderbilt initially declined to enter the bidding contest—again not from any excess of patriotism but from a recognition that any competitive bid wouldn’t come close to covering costs, let alone providing a profit. But his father urged him to submit a bid nonetheless—a reasonable bid that would do justice to the bidder as well as to the job. So he did, with no expectation of any positive result. To his astonishment he won the contract; on his inquiring why, the quartermaster explained, “Because we want the work done and we know you will do it.”


The work indeed was done, and New York was spared, although for reasons that had nothing to do with Vanderbilt’s efforts (the British attacked and burned Washington instead). Yet the success of those efforts brought him more business than he could handle, and when the hostilities had ended he set about expanding operations. His plan was to commence coasting north and south from New York, providing the kind of long-distance delivery service that once more became available. A first step was to purchase a schooner from the government, a flat-bottomed craft heretofore used mostly for harbor work but that could be converted to the coasting trade by the addition of a centerboard.


No sooner had he taken possession, however, than word arrived from the Chesapeake Bay that the shrimp harvest was about to begin. As was customary a whole fleet embarked from New York to meet the shrimpers and return with the crustaceans for the dinner tables of Manhattan. Time was of the essence, for the first boat back would carry the freshest cargo and fetch the highest price.


Vanderbilt hired a pilot who knew more about the coast to the south of Sandy Hook than he did, and set out. Initially his flat-bottomed vessel, which couldn’t hold a tack, fell far behind the other boats, but overnight the wind shifted to the north and he caught and passed them. On arrival at the oyster grounds he took on an enormous cargo, nearly swamping the boat, to the alarm of his crew. Their alarm increased when, on the return voyage, heavy weather and high seas prompted the pilot to advise heading for the nearest port. Vanderbilt ignored the advice, assuring all hands that he knew what he was doing. Perhaps he did; perhaps he just got lucky. But in either case they arrived back at New York in near-record time. Their pink cargo turned to gold at the dock, and Vanderbilt paid for the boat with the profits from this single voyage.


He quickly expanded his fleet to several craft, some built to his order and specifications. On the whole his knowledge and feel for wind and water served him well in directing the shipwrights, but on one embarrassing occasion a top-heavy vessel of his design capsized off Whitehall Landing in full view of his competitors and the public. He salvaged and rerigged the ship; salvaging his pride took rather longer. Yet by the end of 1817 Vanderbilt’s fleet ranged the coast from Boston to Charleston and up the Hudson and other principal rivers. Although his primary business was transporting goods for paying customers, he continued to trade on his own account: in shad when those fish attempted to spawn, only to be intercepted by the nets of waiting fishermen; in melons when the crop ripened to the south of New York and set mouths watering in the city.


Then, to the amazement of friends and rivals both, he sold all his sailing boats and signed on as captain of a ferry owned by Thomas Gibbons, which operated between New Brunswick, at the head of the estuary of New Jersey’s Raritan River, and New York. This decision demonstrated neither weariness with the competition of the waterfront nor a desire to spend more time with his wife and growing family (Sophia would bear him thirteen children in all); rather it reflected an appreciation that the carrying trade had turned a technological corner and entered a new era. The boat he captained was a steam vessel, a far more complicated and expensive craft than the sloops and schooners he was accustomed to. Working for Gibbons was Vanderbilt’s way of mastering the novel technology on someone else’s nickel.


Indeed, far from marking a retreat from the combat of competition, Vanderbilt’s alliance with Gibbons threw him smack into the middle of one of the most contentious—and ultimately portentous—commercial rivalries in American history. Several years earlier the New York legislature had been so impressed by the feat of Robert Fulton’s Clermont in ascending the Hudson under steam power that it granted Fulton and his partner Robert Livingston an exclusive concession to operate steam craft in New York waters. This monopoly was challenged by Aaron Ogden of New Jersey, who saw no reason why the New Yorkers ought to gain all the benefit of the new means of locomotion; Fulton and Livingston responded by licensing Ogden to operate a ferry between New Jersey and New York.


It was this coalition that Gibbons enlisted Vanderbilt to break. The challenge had numerous nasty overtones that had nothing to do with steam ferries; among these was the galling (for Gibbons) circumstance that his wife had enlisted the legal advice of Ogden against her own husband in a dispute involving the alleged seduction of Gibbons’ only daughter. Gibbons, determined that not even death should deprive him of (perhaps posthumous) satisfaction, rewrote his will to include a war chest for carrying on the battle after he was gone. Vanderbilt was not apprised of all the ugly details of the vendetta, but he had no trouble perceiving that Gibbons was determined to ruin Ogden.


Having generally been an underdog himself, Vanderbilt was happy to join any fight against what he conceived to be entrenched privilege. At about this time he castigated John Jacob Astor as a dangerous monopolist and insisted that “no man ever ought to be worth more than $20,000.” (Success would cause him to revise his ceiling sharply upward.) In the ferryboat monopoly case he urged Gibbons to ignore a New York court’s injunction against landing in Manhattan; on receiving his employer’s approval he hoisted a flag proclaiming “New Jersey Must Be Free!” and steamed ahead.


The New York authorities repeatedly attempted to arrest him; repeatedly he foiled their efforts. Sometimes he would simply hide as the constables drew near, mingling with the dockside crowd until the moment of casting off, when he would leap aboard and direct the escape. Occasionally he would start to pull away from the pier with a law officer still aboard; the officer, knowing the lack of sympathy he could expect in New Jersey, where the New York law, which naturally (or unnaturally) raised ferry prices, was exceedingly unpopular, would himself leap the widening chasm, back to safety.


So clever was Vanderbilt at evading the New York law that Gibbons raised his salary to the princely sum of $2,000, whereupon the New York monopolists offered him $5,000 to defect. “I shall stick to Gibbons,” Vanderbilt replied. “He has always treated me square, and been as good as his word. Besides, I don’t care half so much about making money as I do about making my point, and coming out ahead.”


Vanderbilt’s point was that monopoly had no place on the water; he calculated that he would come out ahead if the courts accepted this view. Eventually they did. In the celebrated 1824 case of Gibbons v. Ogden, the U.S. Supreme Court defended the commerce clause of the federal constitution against such interstate encroachments as that by the New York legislature.


Vanderbilt remained in Gibbons’s employ long enough to savor the victory, to see how shipping sorted out in conditions of open competition and to husband sufficient resources to enter the steamboat business on his own. In 1829 he purchased three vessels and, in alliance with some stage drivers who handled the overland leg from New Brunswick to Trenton, he commenced service between New York and Philadelphia. This placed him in competition with an established line operated by the Stevens family; to win passengers he set his prices below the Stevenses’. When the Stevenses countered with a price cut of their own, Vanderbilt slashed again. Eventually he drove fares down to one dollar between New York and Philadelphia. The Stevenses, unwilling to continue losing money indefinitely, offered to buy him out for an undisclosed but evidently ample sum. He accepted, gaining not merely money but additional stature. One veteran of the water wars, employing the nickname by which Vanderbilt was coming to be known, remarked, “The Commodore stuck to the Stevenses and fought them so hard that he left here with a reputation that scared people.”


As part of the buy-out agreement Vanderbilt swore off returning to competition on the southern route; instead he devoted his energies to the Hudson River. Because the Supreme Court decision in Gibbons v. Ogden applied only to interstate commerce, freeing traffic within New York required a decision by New York courts. But deregulation was in the air—or on the water, at any rate—and the state Court of Errors duly annulled the old monopoly against which Vanderbilt had previously battled. He began operating between New York and Peekskill, a route that proved quite profitable.


His profits attracted competition, in the person of Daniel Drew. A shady dealer in an age of shady dealers, Drew was reputed to have pioneered the technique of “watering stock.” The early version involved real (live)stock; while working as a drover, Drew would feed the animals salt so they would drink large amounts of water and put on weight just prior to sale. Whether or not Drew actually invented the ruse, he became a virtuoso at its application to corporate stocks after leaving the cattle pens for the trading pit of Wall Street.


In the early 1830s he took on Vanderbilt on the Hudson. Shortly the two were battering each other with price reductions, to the delight of customers who watched fares fall to twelve-and-a-half cents between New York and Peekskill. This time it was Vanderbilt who bought out his competitor; Drew, without consulting his minority partners, retired from the Hudson. (Those partners subsequently vowed violence if they ever caught up with him.)


Vanderbilt thereupon extended his service north to Albany, placing a new boat he built for the purpose squarely athwart the vessels of an established association of steamboat operators. As before, Vanderbilt attacked on price; as expected, the association attacked back. Reduction chased reduction until the fare fell to ten cents, then to zero. This didn’t wipe out revenues entirely because Vanderbilt and the association still made money selling food and drink to passengers. The passengers needed strong drink to fortify themselves against a time-saving tactic known as “landing on the fly.” To avoid having to stop and start at wharves along the river, a steamboat would pile disembarking passengers into a skiff towed alongside; this would be steered toward the wharf by a crew member. As the wharf drew within reach the passengers would jump or be pushed before the tow line snapped the skiff out from under their feet. The procedure was thrilling when it worked, dousing when it didn’t.


The fun lasted just long enough for the association to determine that it couldn’t beat Vanderbilt and to decide it had better buy him off. It paid him $100,000 up front and $5,000 annually for ten years to quit the river that long.


Barred—albeit handsomely—from doing business south and north of New York, Vanderbilt now ventured east. He commissioned and christened a new boat, the Lexington, which, after completing an early record run through Long Island Sound to Providence, earned the title “fastest boat in the world.” During the next several years Vanderbilt augmented his fleet, until by the 1840s he owned and operated more, and more luxurious, steam vessels than anyone else in the country. The Cornelius Vanderbilt was the most famous of the “floating palaces” of the era; the eponymous palace churned the waters of the Sound at better than 25 miles per hour. The vessel’s speed and visibility inevitably elicited challenges, with one resulting in a spectacular 1847 race between the Cornelius Vanderbilt and the Oregon, which the latter won only because the captain pushed his boilers far beyond the danger point and, having run out of coal, stoked his fires with furniture and fittings on which he had just spent $30,000.


Vanderbilt was settling into the life of the millionaire he had by now become when an event three thousand miles away upset any notions he might have entertained of resting on his paddle wheels. The discovery of gold in California in 1848 triggered the mad rush of 1849 and efforts by assorted purveyors of transport to shorten the rushers’ travel time and capture their travel dollars. A favorite route ran via steamship down the Caribbean to Panama, across the isthmus by mule, then up the West Coast via another steamship. Vanderbilt hit on the idea of building a canal across Nicaragua. It was a bold but not utterly impossible plan; while he sought the necessary financing he patched together a hybrid sea-land-river-lake system across Nicaragua that shortened the passage to San Francisco by two days and allowed him to seize a sizable and profitable part of the traffic.


His canal plans, however, ran afoul of the British government, which refused to sanction a Central American waterway it didn’t control; they also collided with the machinations of some former associates who, during the first vacation of his life, attempted to swindle him out of control of his own company. Vanderbilt responded with a letter that became legendary in the annals of American business:


Gentlemen:


You have undertaken to cheat me. I won’t sue you, for the law is too slow. I’ll ruin you.


Yours truly,


Cornelius Vanderbilt


He proved as good as his word. He dumped his shares of the company on the market, driving its price down, even as he entered an alliance with one of his former Panama competitors. With customary verve he slashed fares and thereby stole customers from the objects of his vengeance, driving the share price down even further. As it bottomed out he quietly began buying; by the time his former partners were aware of what was happening he had regained control.


The next foe who stepped into his path was one of the strangest characters in the history of the Western Hemisphere. William Walker—a Tennessee-born megalomaniac whose own press releases habitually referred to him as “the grey-eyed man of destiny”—would have been a Crusader had he lived in France seven hundred years earlier, or a conquistador had he been Spanish in the sixteenth century. In the mid-nineteenth century he had to content himself trying to carve an empire out of Central America. With a band of fellow filibusters (the term was derived from and still essentially meant “free-booter” before evolving into an instrument of legislative legerdemain), Walker toppled the shaky government of Nicaragua and made himself dictator. He proceeded to cancel the concession under which Vanderbilt operated his transit service. Adding insult to injury, Walker granted a new concession to the double-crossing corporate faction Vanderbilt had just defeated.


Recognizing that Walker could stand only as long as he continued to receive supplies from abroad, Vanderbilt determined to cut off those supplies. Again he routed traffic through Panama; meanwhile he pressured persons with whom he did business to have nothing to do with Walker. Finally, he threw support to Walker’s enemies within Nicaragua. The result was that Walker was toppled and driven out of the country. (He took his grey eyes to Honduras, where his destiny became a date with a firing squad.)


But Central America had lost its appeal for Vanderbilt, and once more he accepted payment—$56,000 per month this time—for retiring from a business. He briefly entered the transatlantic trade. His second eponymous steam vessel, the Vanderbilt, set records for the ocean crossing, but the outbreak of the Civil War in 1861, combined with disappointing profits, prompted him to sell out. He offered the Vanderbilt to the federal government for use as a warship against the Confederacy; President Lincoln accepted and Congress voted a resolution of thanks for the generous gift. Vanderbilt, who had intended a loan rather than a gift, was flabbergasted. “Congress be damned!,” he declared. “I never gave that ship to Congress.” On reflection, however, he decided that if he didn’t want to appear unpatriotic there was nothing to be done. “Mr. Lincoln and Mr. Welles [the navy secretary] think it was a gift, and I suppose I shall have to let her go.”


Beyond appearances Vanderbilt had another reason for not fighting to get his ship back. He had discovered a new mode of transport and a new way of making money. For years he had been contemptuous of “them things that go on land,” as he called railroad trains; his aversion escalated in 1833 when, on what was probably the first train ride he ever took, the axle of one of the cars failed and he was hurled out of the train and down a slope, nearly to his death. But the evidence of the following decades was as undeniable as the advance of the rails, and during the early 1860s Vanderbilt decided to buy in. A friend and part-time protegé, Ward McAllister (who later became czar of New York high society), asked for a tip: “Commodore, you will be as great a railroad king as you were once an ocean king; and as you call me your boy, why don’t you make my fortune?” Vanderbilt considered the question, then said, “Mac, sell everything you have and put it in Harlem stock. It is now twenty-four; you will make more money than you will know how to take care of.”


It is unclear if McAllister followed the advice; if he had he would indeed have made a pile of money. When Vanderbilt began buying shares in the New York & Harlem Railroad it was a miserable excuse for a road, but it had prospects that Vanderbilt saw more clearly than others. Chief among these prospects was the possibility of extending the Harlem’s urban tracks south of Union Square past Wall Street to the Battery. By means that doubtless included bribery (usually deemed a normal cost of business in those days, especially in the New York of Tammany Hall), Vanderbilt persuaded the city council to grant the required permission. At once the share price of Harlem stock shot upward, passing 100 and still climbing.


Not surprisingly this performance attracted the attention of market pros, who wondered whether the high prices could be sustained. Daniel Drew doubted it. Despite being a director of the Harlem and one who had profited from the quadrupling of the share price, Drew guessed that it would fall and sold way short. To encourage the fall he resorted to some bribery of his own, paying the council to rescind the Harlem’s franchise. The tactic worked; at once the price began to plummet.


But Vanderbilt was ready and, reaching deep, caught the shares on the fall. When, in addition, it became apparent that Drew and the bears had promised delivery of more shares of stock than were in existence, their scheme collapsed. Drew took a drubbing and was forced to make a private settlement with Vanderbilt, to the latter’s great profit. At this time or some other, Drew reportedly uttered the words that became—or should have become—a motto to all short traders:


He that sells what isn’t his’n


Must buy it back or go to prison.


Vanderbilt applied his profit from the transaction to improving the rolling stock, tracks and service of the Harlem. Before long the old derelict carried commuters with dispatch and reliability. Horace Greeley, the editor of the New York Tribune and a regular on the line, remarked in 1867: “We lived on this road when it was poor and feebly managed—with rotten cars and wheezy old engines that could not make schedule time; and the improvement since realized is gratifying.”


Vanderbilt soon moved to expand his railroad holdings. He purchased control of the Hudson River Railroad and set his sights on the New York Central, which ran from Albany west to Buffalo. Directors of the latter countered by forming an alliance with Daniel Drew, who once again was operating a steamboat line on the Hudson. Passengers and freight from the Central were transferred to Drew’s boats for the journey down the Hudson. At least they were during the warm months when the boats ran; in winter, when ice blocked the channel, they were shifted to Vanderbilt’s Hudson River line under a previous agreement. In January 1867, in the dead of winter, Vanderbilt canceled the agreement. This threatened to freeze—literally—the Central out of the critical New York City market, and its directors quickly came to terms. Before the year was over Vanderbilt had taken effective control of the road. As he had with the Harlem, he invested heavily in infrastructure and service, and by the time he united it with the Hudson in 1869 (as the New York Central & Hudson River Railway) it afforded customers efficient service across the breadth and most of the length of the state.


Vanderbilt’s son William would later become notorious for responding to a reporter’s question whether the public should be consulted about a certain issue of corporate governance, by snorting: “The public be damned!” The father took a different view, at least before a legislative committee investigating his takeover of the Central. “I have always served the public to the best of my ability,” he declared. “Why? Because, like every other man, it is my interest to do so, and to put them to as little inconvenience as possible.”


Doubtless the old man—he turned seventy-five the year of the amalgamation of the Central and the Hudson—was sincere; doubtless also he didn’t intend to let the public interest interfere with private interest. In 1868 Vanderbilt attempted to extend his reach still farther, launching a takeover attempt of the Erie, one of the main lines from Buffalo to Chicago. Here again he encountered Dan Drew, whose reputation as a market manipulator had survived his previous defeat at Vanderbilt’s hands. One version of the conventional wisdom explained:


Daniel says up: Erie goes up.


Daniel says down: Erie goes down.


Daniel says wiggle-waggle: it bobs both ways.


Drew had formidable friends, including Jim Fisk and Jay Gould; their battle with Vanderbilt for control of the Erie became one of the business epics of the age. As Vanderbilt purchased shares, toward the goal of controlling a majority, the opposing trio finagled the issuance of tens of thousands of new shares. As the new issue was pouring out the door onto Wall Street, Fisk gloated against Vanderbilt: “If this printing-press don’t break down, I’ll be damned if I don’t give the old hog all he wants of Erie.”


Even by the lax standards of that day such blatant shenanigans were illegal, and when Vanderbilt threatened to have his rivals arrested they grabbed corporate records and cash—reportedly $7 million—from the Erie offices and decamped across the Hudson to the friendlier environs of New Jersey. With some of that cash they persuaded the New Jersey legislature to allow them to reincorporate the Erie in the Garden State, a move that afforded a certain protection against Vanderbilt’s wrath. Seeking more assurance they sent Gould to Albany to seek the blessing of the New York legislature on their coup. They had reason for hope; one journalist on the Albany beat remarked of the lawmakers: “The boys were poor and hungry after the long abstinence of the session. How beautiful then, the prospect which the Erie contest opened up to them! How they gloated over the pleasures which the fight would develop!” The boys licked their chops the more when Vanderbilt appeared ready to counter the offers of the Gould group. Loud whispers told of one state senator who accepted $15,000 from one side before selling out for $20,000 to the other. At the last moment, however, Vanderbilt decided to bear the market for votes. “A rumor ran through Albany as of some great public disaster, spreading panic and terror through hotel and corridor,” recounted an eyewitness. “The observer was reminded of the dark days of the war [the Civil War, that is], when tidings came of some great defeat . . . . In a moment the lobby was smitten with despair, and the cheeks of the legislators were blanched, for it was reported that Vanderbilt had withdrawn his opposition to the bill.”


Indeed he had. Counting costs, the Commodore determined that it made better sense to arrange a private peace with Gould, Drew and Fisk than to try to purchase the New York legislature. He abandoned his effort to win control of the Erie and in exchange for a payment of $1 million agreed to drop the lawsuits he had filed against the absconders.


The Erie fight did credit neither to Vanderbilt’s balance sheet—he lost perhaps one to two million dollars in the takeover attempt—nor to his public reputation. He salvaged some of the latter when, in the wake of the panic of 1873, which evaporated the finances of railroads all across the country, he announced that the New York Central would continue to pay dividends as usual. He also kept thousands of men off the unemployment rolls by pushing through improvements to the recently opened Grand Central Station at Forty-second Street.


Doubtless it was partly by comparison to the likes of Drew and Gould, but at Vanderbilt’s death in 1877 he was considered something of a model of the businessman-citizen. An era that tamed the frontier by throwing aside the Indians and preserved the Union at the cost of 600,000 lives found little to fault in Vanderbilt’s two-fisted approach, and much to credit in what those fists—and the spirit and intelligence to which they were attached—accomplished. “Roads which had been the playthings of gamblers and the preserves of politicians prospered under his hard, cold, daring management,” asserted the New York Herald.“The lesson to be learned from the life of Vanderbilt is simple and impressive. Courage in the performance of duty enabled this man to become one of the kings of the earth. The hard, strong-limbed boy who guided his vessel from ferry to ferry nearly seventy years ago lived to be a ruler of men. He had no advantages in his battle, no political, social, educational aid. It was one honest, sturdy, fearless man against the world, and in the end the man won.”
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GOLDEN GRAIN



Cyrus McCormick



• • •


OVER THE COURSE OF MORE THAN TWO CENTURIES, THE UNITED States would lead the world in any number of industries, from the fundamental (railroads, steel) to the sophisticated (microelectronics, pharmaceuticals). But in no industry was American preeminence more persistent than in the most fundamental industry of all: agriculture. From the middle of the nineteenth century to the end of the twentieth, America’s farms proved a cornucopia of food and fiber that fed and clothed the American people and millions in other countries as well. This bounty, which made possible the modernization of American society, was the work of ten million hands—and might have been the work of ninety million more if not for the cussedness of Cyrus McCormick.


McCormick wasn’t a brawler like Cornelius Vanderbilt, but he was combative in his own way. “The exhibition of his powerful will was at times actually terrible,” his own lawyer remarked. “If any other man on this earth ever had such a will, certainly I have not heard of it.” Even after he was worth millions, McCormick would refuse to pay the smallest charge if he thought a principle was involved. Once the Pennsylvania Railroad wanted $8.70 for excess baggage; McCormick contended that the baggage fee should have been included in the price of the six tickets he had purchased for himself and his family. When the railroad insisted, he canceled his trip; when the railroad proceeded to lose the bags, he initiated a lawsuit that lasted twenty-three years, generated tens of thousands of dollars in legal fees, and didn’t end until after he died. (If the Penn was slow to learn, other railroads weren’t. When the New York Central misplaced a trunk belonging to a McCormick relative, the road’s lawyer sent a check at once. “We don’t want to have a lawsuit with the McCormicks,” he explained.)


McCormick came by his orneriness honestly. His ancestors were Scotch-Irish, of those clans that had fought the English in Scotland, the Irish in Ireland, and the Indians on the American frontier. Cyrus’ grandfather Robert, finding life into the Pennsylvania hinterland too confining, had moved southwest into the Valley of Virginia, as the Shenandoah Valley was then called. There he sired a son, also called Robert, who in turn produced a son, Cyrus, in 1809. (Three days before Cyrus was born, across the mountains in Kentucky another Illinoisan-to-be, Abraham Lincoln, first saw the light of day; the two would collaborate to save the Union half a century later.) Committed Calvinists, McCormick’s people adhered to the doctrine that God helps those who help themselves; molded by generations of borderland conflict, they helped themselves to whatever they could lay hold of and defend. By 1830, when Cyrus turned twenty-one, his father had secured twelve hundred acres, which produced a profitable diversity of grain, fruit, timber and stone. Five children, including Cyrus, amplified Robert’s own labor power; nine slaves magnified it still more.


But not enough. Robert, and now Cyrus, ran up against the fundamental problem of American economic life during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries: Although blessed with abundant natural resources, the American colonies and then the American states were chronically short of labor. Native-born Americans did their best to alleviate the shortage by reproducing at a breathtaking pace; meanwhile immigrants poured in from overseas. But so immense were the resources available for development—the land area within American borders doubled in 1783 at the end of the American Revolutionary War, and again in 1803 with the Louisiana Purchase—that labor remained the critical constraint on the growth of the economy.


In such circumstances, a single invention could have an enormous effect. Eli Whitney’s cotton gin, which in the 1790s mechanized the separation of cotton fibers from cotton seeds, opened up vast new reaches of the American South to cotton culture (a culture that included slavery, which thereby gained a new lease on life).


What the cotton gin was to the South, a mechanical reaper would be to the North. The principal impediment to the spread of commercial agriculture across the Ohio Valley and beyond was the inability of farm workers to cut more than about half an acre of wheat per laborer per day. Because wheat had the inconvenient habit of ripening all at once, and of falling to the ground and being lost within ten days or two weeks of coming ripe, wheat growers faced an annual harvest-time problem. In Europe, where hands were plentiful and labor correspondingly cheap, the problem could be solved by hiring more workers for the harvest. In America, where hands were few, the expense of hiring more workers drove costs to such levels as to prohibit large-scale cultivation. A person who could devise a method to multiply the labor power of the harvest workers would become a national hero, and wealthy besides.


Cyrus McCormick wasn’t the only person to reach this conclusion, nor the first. Tinkerers in sheds and blacksmith shops all across the wheat-growing regions from New York to Illinois, and abroad as well, tried to improve on the sickle and the scythe, tools only marginally modified since the days when the Egyptians built their pyramids. Various inventors approximated success, but until the 1830s none had overcome the combined obstacles of bumpy, sloping and rock-strewn fields; horses and mules that took fright at the clattering contraptions chasing their tails; and skeptical customers—that is, farmers unwilling to bet the farm, in many cases literally, on expensive and as-yet-unproven machinery.


Cyrus McCormick had haunted the blacksmith shop on his father’s farm from youth, both out of innate curiosity and as a way of avoiding field work; now he hammered together a working reaper. In 1831 he tested it on a neighbor’s farm. Those who saw it accounted it “a right smart curious sort of thing”; McCormick, with the hindsight that comes from having several million dollars in one’s pocket, later declared that he knew at once that this device would make his fortune.


If he really did know that, he kept it a secret while he parked his invention in a barn and went off to Kentucky to try to sell another machine, one that seemed to have more immediate promise. During the second quarter of the nineteenth century, Kentucky’s perennial presidential aspirant, Henry Clay, was promoting a program of economic nationalism that he dubbed the “American system.” This combination of federally financed infrastructure development and tariff-enforced import substitution would, Clay promised, enhance American prosperity by providing jobs and freeing the United States from dependence on imports. At that time, hemp was a strategic material, vital to the ropes and lines of sailing ships, as well as to the more mundane burlap sacks and twine used in every household and most businesses. Clay hoped to encourage the domestic production of hemp, which—as luck would have it—grew well in his home state. What was needed to make the American industry competitive with foreign suppliers was a cheap method of “breaking” hemp: separating the usable fibers from the rest of the plant. Robert McCormick had devised a machine to accomplish this task, and Cyrus was determined that it would do for hemp what the cotton gin had done for cotton. Unfortunately for father and son (and for Henry Clay), the McCormicks’ machine never lived up to its promise, and neither did the hemp industry. (Many decades later a variety of hemp bred for other purposes would enable the plant to make a comeback, as domestic marijuana dealers applied Clay’s buy-American philosophy to the illicit drug trade.)


Realizing he wasn’t going to become the Eli Whitney of hemp, McCormick turned to becoming the Cyrus McCormick of wheat. He tinkered further with his reaper, then sought a patent, which he received in 1834. New demonstrations went even better than the first; after one successful show, a U.S. senator from South Carolina and a future governor of Virginia jointly declared: “The cutting was rapid and extremely clean, scarcely a stalk of grain being left, and little, if any, being lost by shattering from the work of the machine.” Other observers predicted that McCormick’s reaper would be “an acquisition of value and importance to the general husbandry.”


Curiously, the inventor’s vision clouded once more. Part of the fog followed from bad harvests in the Shenandoah Valley, which for the next few years left farmers struggling to carry the debt load they already bore; new capital purchases were out of the question. Part of the problem was McCormick’s quick mind, which spun off other novelties and schemes for making money. A plow designed especially for hillside work performed to favorable reviews and promising sales. An iron mine and smelter seemed a natural for a young man who grew up beating iron at his father’s forge. But the plows never caught on outside McCormick’s neighborhood, and, in the wake of the Panic of 1837, the iron mine turned out to be a hole in the ground down which his money disappeared.


Only in 1839 did McCormick go back to his reaper, and then chiefly under the pressure of a rival. Obed Hussey wore a patch over his left eye and a stern look on his face; whether one or both were the consequence of his earlier career whaling out of Nantucket, this Ahab-looking Maine native didn’t say. In time, Cyrus McCormick would become his Moby Dick; for now he honed his land-harpoon, a competing reaper. While McCormick was wasting time and money in iron, Hussey was winning customers in grain.


When McCormick learned of Hussey’s success, he dusted off his reaper and bought advertising in the Richmond Enquirer. He declared that he was back in business and would be able to fill all orders in time for the 1840 harvest. The initial response was disappointing; in 1840 he sold just two machines. By his later admission—albeit not his contemporary claims—these models really weren’t worth much, and he retired to his shop to craft improvements. When he reentered the market in 1842 he had a better product. He sold six reapers that year, twenty-nine the next.


In 1844 he took a trip that changed his life—and altered the course of American history. Until then his horizons had been limited, quite literally, by the ridges that enclosed the Valley of Virginia and framed the Allegheny-Appalachian uplift. In his thirty-sixth year he crossed the mountains onto the prairies that stretched to the Missouri River, and traversed that stream onto the plains that extended from there to the Rocky Mountains. As he gazed out across this vast open territory, the scales fell from his eyes. A reaper could be a convenience in the tight, enclosed fields of Virginia; on the ocean-like tracts of the West, it would be a necessity.


If McCormick had suffered from bad timing before, now he benefited from the opposite. Subsistence farmers had been living in the trans-Appalachian region since colonial times, but only with the opening of the Erie Canal in 1825 had market-minded farmers begun moving into the area. The arrival of the railroads in the 1830s and 1840s augmented the farmers’ ability to get crops to market and encouraged additional settlement. Before the canals and especially the railroads, the most profitable way to market grain was often in a jug: Farmers distilled it into whiskey, which commanded a much higher price per pound. (Cyrus McCormick’s father, a good temperance man but also a canny businessman, reconciled his conscience with his bottom line by refusing his workers their customary liquor ration even as he processed his grain into whiskey and sold it for twenty-five cents a gallon.) Americans in the nineteenth century consumed prodigious quantities of alcohol, not least because water supplies were frequently unhealthy; but even they could not live by booze alone. The arrival of mechanized transport held out the possibility of shipping raw grain, or grain ground into flour, to the burgeoning cities of the East.


Events outside the grain-growing districts also conspired in McCormick’s favor. The failure of the Irish potato crop drove up European demand for food imports from the United States. Partly as a result, the British government in 1846 repealed the Corn Laws, the protectionist measures that heretofore had kept out American grain (“corn,” in the generic British sense). The discovery of gold in California in 1848 sent a flood of bullion back East, swelling the money supply and raising farm prices, even as it siphoned labor West, thereby making mechanization all the more imperative.


Cyrus McCormick couldn’t appreciate every factor that was working in his favor, but he could read the farm press. Chicago’s Union Agriculturist and Western Prairie Farmer trumpeted: “Inventors—here is a field for you to operate in; anything that you wish to have introduced into extensive use, which you know to be really valuable, you can bring here with a good prospect of success. Bring along your machines.” (“Give us a chance to advertise them,” the paper added.) Another Chicago editor mentioned reapers specifically: “They are just the thing for our prairies, where more grain is sown than can possibly be gathered in the ordinary way, and their comparative cheapness puts them within the reach of every tiller of the soil. So indispensable will be their use that hereafter the sickle, the scythe, and the cradle may as well hang themselves ‘upon the willow.’”


To capture the rapidly growing western market, McCormick relocated to Chicago in 1848. He set up a factory in a three-story brick building of 10,000 square feet on the north bank of the Chicago River, with convenient access to both water and rail transport. In his factory he adopted the principle of interchangeable parts pioneered by Eli Whitney (to make guns rather than cotton gins), and he installed a steam engine to drive his lathes, saws and grinders. The result was one of the first examples of mass production—and one of the most impressive. A visitor described the works:


An angry whirr, a dronish hum, a prolonged whistle, a shrill buzz and a panting breath—such is the music of the place. You enter—little wheels of steel attached to horizontal, upright and oblique shafts, are on every hand. They seem motionless. Rude pieces of wood without form or comeliness are hourly approaching them upon little railways, as if drawn thither by some mysterious attraction. They touch them, and presto, grooved, scallopped, rounded, on they go, with a little help from an attendant, who seems to have an easy time of it, and transferred to another railway, when down comes a guillotine-like contrivance—they are morticed, bored, and whirled away. . . .


The saw and the cylinder are the genii of the establishment. They work its wonders, and accomplish its drudgery. But there is a greater than they. Below, glistening like a knight in armor, the engine of forty-horse power works as silently as the “little wheel” [i.e., the spinning wheel] of the matron; but shafts plunge, cylinders revolve, bellows heave, iron is twisted into screws like wax, and saws dash off at the rate of forty rounds a second, at one movement of its mighty muscles.


But there is a greater still than this. There by the furnace fire, begrimed with coal and dust, decorated with an apron of leather, instead of a ribbon of satin, stands the one who controls—nay, who can create the whole.


McCormick’s entry into mass production was a gamble, but a necessary one. His original patent was about to expire after a normal fourteen-year run; although he sought an extension, success in that endeavor could hardly be taken for granted. Indeed, his rivals, led by Hussey, did their best to block him. The case became a cat fight for editors and a growth industry for lawyers. “McCormick can be beaten in the Patent Office, and must be beaten now or never,” asserted an attorney drumming up business for the opposition. “If funds are furnished us, we shall surely beat him; but if they are not furnished, he will as certainly beat us. Please, therefore, take hold and help us to beat the common enemy. The subscriptions have ranged from $100 to $1,000.” McCormick’s opponents in the press contended that he had made enough money from his monopoly, and that to extend it would, as one indignant writer put it, “impose a tax of $500,000 a year upon the starving people of the world.” McCormick battled on, even as the odds against him mounted; years elapsed while the future of an emerging industry hung in the balance. Finally the commissioner of patents delivered praise and an unfavorable verdict: “He will live in the grateful recollection of mankind as long as the reaping-machine is employed in gathering the harvest. But the Reaper is of too great value to the public to be controlled by any individual, and the extension of his patent is refused.”


A less determined individual than McCormick might have retreated under this blow; instead he redoubled his efforts and drove forward. To the surprise of many—although apparently not McCormick—his short-run defeat became the basis for his long-term success, even as it vindicated the wisdom of the patent system. In his fourteen years of exclusive rights, McCormick had been able to perfect his design; now he had to best the competition by superior production, distribution and service. His ability to do so was what separated him from most other inventors and made his success not merely a technological triumph but an industrial one.


Indeed, McCormick’s accomplishment (and that of those who followed him) was nothing less than to industrialize agriculture. He was the first to bring the factory system to the production of farm equipment; this, in turn, by making the reaper and its successors available to millions of farmers, brought the factory system to the production of farm crops. When machines replaced humans in the fields, productivity rose, prices fell and consumers—meaning everyone who ate—benefited.


During the several years after his move to Chicago, McCormick’s factory churned out ever-growing numbers of machines. In 1849 the company fabricated 1500 machines; in 1856, 4000. By the end of the latter year McCormick had produced altogether some 16,000 reapers, mowers and reaper-mowers.


Yet production was only one part of the equation. For all the macroeconomic influences on demand, selling the reapers remained a stubbornly microeconomic affair. McCormick created a marketing machine that was as efficient among its target audience as his reapers were in standing grain. The sales process began with advertising. During the 1840s McCormick bought space in papers from New York to Illinois, wherever wheat or related grains grew. An 1849 advertisement illustrated the ease of use of “McCormick’s Patent Virginia Reaper” with a picture of a young boy happily cracking the whip over the two-horse team that pulled the device, while an unperspiring man in top hat and waistcoat raked the neatly severed stalks from the platform. “Last harvest 800 of these machines were sold and used with great satisfaction and advantage,” the copy read. To corroborate this assertion, the ad included testimonials from satisfied customers. In time, as his cost of advertising in other people’s newspapers increased, McCormick decided to publish his own paper. Before he died the Farmers’ Advance had a circulation of 350,000, distributed to farmers all across the country. The paper flogged McCormick products, naturally and forthrightly; one of the paper’s editors explained: “Trying to do business without advertising is like winking at a pretty girl through a pair of green goggles. You may know what you are doing, but no one else does.”
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